IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDY SCHOENWETTER,)	
)		
)		
Appellant,)		
)		
vs.)		CASE NUMBER SC04-53
)		
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
Appellee.)		
	.)		

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (386) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal comprises sixteen volumes. Volumes one and two

consist of transcripts of various pretrial hearings, the plea proceedings, and the *Spencer* ³ hearing. Volume three consists of the transcript of sentencing as well as various pleadings, court minutes, and orders. Volumes four and five contain various motions, court minutes, and orders. These first six volumes are numbered consecutively from page 1 through page 840.

Volumes six through nine contain the transcript of jury selection. These four volumes are numbered consecutively from page 1 through page 751. Volumes ten through sixteen contain the transcripts of the penalty phase. These seven volumes are numbered consecutively from page 1 through 1317. Counsel will refer to these first sixteen volumes by Roman numerals to designate the volume followed by the appropriate page numbers.

A supplemental record containing three volumes was filed on December 13, 2004. These three volumes are numbered consecutively volume one through volume three. The three volumes contain consecutively numbered pages from page 1 through page 339. Counsel will refer to this portion of the record using Roman numerals to designate the volumes coupled with the letters "SR" (supplemental record) followed by the appropriate pages.

³ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (1993)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 29, 2000, the spring term grand jury in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, Brevard County, returned an indictment charging Randy Schoenwetter, the appellant, with two counts of first-degree premeditated murder, one count of attempted first-degree felony murder, and one count of armed burglary of a dwelling. (III 393-95)

Early on, appellant unsuccessfully sought to disqualify the trial court. (I 115-16; III 490-94, 497) Prior to trial, appellant filed numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute. *See, e.g.*, (IV, 558-63, 569-677) Appellant also filed a motion in limine regarding gruesome photographs. (III 678-80)

On December 11, 2002, appellant filed a motion to suppress statements and admissions as well as a second motion to suppress evidence that was alleged to be a product of the illegally obtained admissions. (III 684-89) On February 27, 2003, the trial court rendered an order denying appellant's motion to suppress statements and admissions. The court also denied the accompanying motion to suppress evidence. (IV 708-726)

On March 5, 2003, appellant pleaded guilty to all pending charges as alleged in the indictment. (II 225-265)

On September 15 - 17, 2003, a jury was selected to hear the penalty phase and recommend two sentences for the two murders. (VI - IX 1-751) Penalty phase commenced on September 17, 2003. (X - XVI 1-1317) During the penalty phase, trial counsel moved to withdraw based on conflict with appellant. (XI 312) The trial court ultimately conducted a competency hearing. The court declared appellant competent to proceed. (XI 314-29, 355-99; XII 409-14)

Appellant registered an objection to the testimony of the medical examiner who did not perform the autopsy. (XI 212-15) Over defense objection, the state introduced photographs which appellant contended were unnecessarily prejudicial. (XIII 623-46; State's exhibits 71-76) During closing argument, appellant moved for a mistrial based on a misstatement of law by the prosecutor. The trial court denied the motion, but read a curative instruction. (XVI 1227-35)

After hearing evidence and argument, the jury returned advisory sentences recommending, by a majority vote, that Randy Schoenwetter should die for the murders of Virginia Friskey and Ronald Friskey. (V 768-69) The trial court ultimately followed the jury's recommendations and sentenced Randy Schoenwetter to die for his crimes. (V 788-821)

Appellant filed a notice of appeal on January 5, 2004. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Crime

On the evening of Friday, August 11, 2000, Hausen Friskey was home with her husband Ron and their two daughters, Theresa and Virginia. (XIII 756-58)

Theresa, the eldest daughter, went out that evening after dinner. Hausen and Virginia lay on the couch watching television, while Ron Friskey sat in his recliner.

The three of them fell asleep watching television in the living room. Later that night, they woke up and retired to their respective bedrooms. Theresa had returned home earlier and was in her own bedroom. (XIII 658-60)

Sometime before dawn, Hausen Friskey woke up to the sound of Virginia crying out. (XIII 660) Hausen likened the sound to one of a sick child. Hausen immediately got out of bed and walked to her open bedroom door. She could see into Virginia's bedroom down the hall. Although she could make out Virginia's figure lying in her bed, her view was blocked by the figure of a "big male" standing beside Virginia's bed. (XIII 661-62) The man appeared to be brushing Virginia's body.⁴ (XIII 662)

⁴ When interviewed by law enforcement at the hospital following the attacks, Hausen described Virginia's room as "really dark." (XIII 674-75) Despite the darkness and the fact that appellant stood between her and Virginia, Hausen was certain that appellant's hands were on Virginia. (XIII 675-76)

Hausen spoke to the intruder and asked his identity. However, when excited, Hausen tended to revert to her native Korean language, as she did in this instance. (XIII 662) The man looked at Hausen,⁵ and made a motion with his hand towards Virginia. Hausen heard Virginia make a "huhhhh" sound like an intake of air. (XIII 663)

Hausen did not remember much of the events that night following her discovery of the intruder. (XIII 664) She had a sense of her husband fighting with the man in Virginia's bedroom, while Hausen lay on the floor. (XIII 664-65) Hausen had a vague recollection that she was having difficulty breathing.

Theresa, the Friskey's sixteen-year-old daughter, said she woke up at 5:23 a.m. when she heard a commotion outside her bedroom. (X 84, 107) Theresa also heard Virginia, her ten-year-old sister crying. (X 108) Theresa, who kept her bedroom door locked, opened her door. She looked into her parents' room which appeared to be a mess. Theresa then went to the doorway of her little sister's room. There she could barely discern a pile of people, perhaps three, on the floor of her sister's bedroom. (X 108-13) She heard a male voice instruct her to call 911. She returned to her room, closed and locked the door, and called for help.

⁵ When the intruder turned to look at Hausen, she recognized him as Randy Schoenwetter, her son's friend. (XIII 663-64)

(X 109-13)

While waiting for the police, Theresa opened her blinds and looked out the window. She saw a man, dressed only in his underwear, staggering away from the house. (X 113-15) She subsequently realized that the man, who was covered in blood, was her father. (X 113-15)

Ronald Friskey went to the home of his next-door neighbor, Julie Blyth, where he sought help. Ms. Blyth was awakened by a loud bump at her front door. She saw a man covered with blood on her front porch. He asked Ms. Blyth to call 911. Although she initially did not recognize her neighbor, Ms. Blyth subsequently realized that the man was Ronald Friskey. Friskey told Blyth that he had been stabbed by a young white male. Friskey admitted that he did not know who his assailant was. (X 140-49)

Subsequent autopsies revealed that Ronald Friskey suffered multiple stab wounds as well as multiple incisive wounds. Cuts to Ronald Friskey's hands were consistent with defensive wounds. (XI 243-46) One wound to Ronald Friskey's upper back was life threatening. A second wound was fatal in that it penetrated his lung. This led to exsanguation, shock, and ultimately death. (XI 253-54) The wounds would have resulted in Mr. Friskey's death in five to forty minutes. (XI 255) The medical examiner determined that multiple stab wounds were the cause of

death. (XI 271) Virginia Friskey also died from multiple stab wounds. (X 1269-70) Virginia suffered wounds to her hand and wrist. (XI 264) Hausen Friskey suffered multiple stab wounds including damage to her liver, her chest, her left arm, several stab wounds in her back, on her arm, and on her thumb. (XIII 639-40) She suffered a deep stab wound to the upper abdomen that went through her liver and into the chest. (XIII 641) She had two minor stab wounds on her right arm. She suffered superficial stab wounds to the face and neck. (XIII 642) One stab wound went through the left arm and entered her chest. (XIII 643)

The Confession

Detective Butler interviewed Randy Schoenwetter at the police station.

Randy admitted that he knew the Friskey family.⁶ (XII 504-5) Although Randy initially denied any involvement in the crimes, he ultimately confessed. (XII 510-21) Randy explained that he entered the Friskey home through a sliding glass door.

(XII 532) He picked up a knife in the kitchen.⁷ (XII 532-33) Randy then wandered around the house as the occupants continued to sleep. When pressed on his intent, Randy said he went into the house just for the excitement of breaking in. (XII 525-

⁶ Randy was friends with the Friskey son who had joined the military and left town. (X 91-94)

⁷ Randy explained that he picked up the knife in case someone woke up. He could then used the knife as a threat to enable his escape. (XII 533)

27) He had no intent to steal or commit any other offense inside the home.

Mr. and Mrs. Friskey woke up to find an intruder in their home. (XII 522-23) As Randy stood in the hallway, Mr. Friskey came out of his bedroom and grabbed him from behind. Mrs. Friskey clawed at Randy. (XII 536-37) When Mr. Friskey tried to choke him, Randy flailed about with the knife. Mr. Friskey was behind Randy, holding his arms. (XII 530) Their momentum carried them through the doorway and onto the floor of Virginia's bedroom. The commotion work up Virginia, who started screaming. (XII 536-37) Both parents were trying to subdue Randy, who had the knife in his left hand. Randy flailed wildly with the knife.⁸ (XII 536-37) Randy described the incident as just a "blur of fighting and trying to get away." (XII 537) During the altercation, Randy cut himself when his grip slipped. (XII 523-26)

He left the house the same way that he entered. (XII 539) He had parked his bicycle in the back driveway. (XII 539) Randy rode his bicycle back to his apartment. (XII 540-42) After taking a shower, Randy put the knife, his clothes, and his shoes in a bag before throwing them in the dumpster at his apartment. (XII524-25, 543)

⁸ Although he had the knife in his left hand, Randy is, in fact, right handed. (XII 538)

The Plea

Randy Schoenwetter accepted complete responsibility for his actions and pleaded guilty to all pending charges. He pleaded guilty to the first-degree premeditated murder of Virginia Friskey, as well as the first-degree premeditated murder of Ronald Friskey. Randy also pleaded guilty to one count of attempted first degree murder of Haesun Friskey and to one count of burglary of a dwelling. In pleading guilty to all pending charges, Randy Schoenwetter acted against his attorneys' advice. (II 225-65)

Appellant's Mental Condition

At the penalty phase, the defense presented extensive testimony and evidence relating to Randy's mental condition. That evidence was not significantly refuted by the state. Dr. Nona Prichard, a clinical psychologist specializing in neuropsychology and also an expert in Asperger's Syndrome and Dr. William Riebsame, a licensed psychologist, both examined Randy throughly. (XIII 722-28, XIV 837-42) Additionally, Dr. Joseph Wu, the clinical director of the brain imaging center, University of California at Irvine, and associate professor of medicine, testified as an expert in psychiatry, neuroscience, and PET scan imaging. (XIV

884-94 et.seq)⁹ Dr. Wu explained in lengthy detail that the scientific community generally accepted the use of PET scans to study brain function.¹⁰ (XIV 886-92) A PET helps corroborate a diagnosis if used in conjunction with other medical and clinical records.¹¹ (XIV 892-94)

All three mental health experts agreed that Randy suffers from significant mental problems. Dr. Prichard, an expert in the field, diagnosed Randy with Asperger's Syndrome. Asperger's Syndrome, a form of autism, is a neurological disorder that reflects an abnormal brain pathology. She noted that he exhibited almost every symptom. (XIV 844) People suffering from this form of autism are severely impaired in their ability to socially interact. Often times, from early childhood, they are described as social misfits. Asperger symptoms include 1) severe impairment in reciprocal social interaction; 2) lack of appreciation of social cues; 3) socially and emotionally inappropriate behavior; 4) very narrow but highly

⁹ Dr. Wu is board certified in the field of psychiatry. His primary focus is brain imaging using PET scans. Dr. Wu estimated that 90% of his time was devoted to analyzing and writing about PET images. (XIV 885-86)

Dr. Wu had testified as a PET scan expert approximately thirty to forty times. (XIV 894-95) He has published over fifty peer-reviewed articles on the use of PET scans and neuropsychiatric disorders. (XIV 895) Dr. Wu had acquired and reviewed over 5,000 brain PET scans and was among the world's most prolific in that particular area. (XIV 895)

¹¹ Dr. Wu conducted a PET scan on Randy's brain.

focused interests; 5) imposition of their own routines and interest on other people; 6) superficially perfect expressive language; 7) misunderstanding metaphor and humor; 8) impaired ability to understand other people's feelings; 12 and 9) inflexibility. (XIV 846-54) People suffering from the disorder develop an extreme preoccupation a subject or topic. This preoccupation becomes so extreme that it is all encompassing. 13 Their entire life centers around that particular topic. In Randy's case, he became preoccupied with satanic and sexual matters. (XIII 738-41)

Dr. Prichard concluded that appellant's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired that night. (XIV 854)

Randy's actions that night were neither calculated nor premeditated. (XIV 855) Dr. Prichard estimated that Randy's social comprehension was equivalent to a child of eight to ten years old.

Testing revealed that appellant was not malingering nor was he exaggerating any mental problems. In fact, during Dr. Riebsame's interviews with appellant,

¹² Dr. Prichard distinguished sociopaths/psychopaths from Asperger sufferers by pointing out that the former understand emotions and feelings, but have no empathy. Asperger sufferers have a basic lack of understanding of feelings altogether. (XIV 849)

¹³ Dr. Wu gave as examples obsessions with trial parts or the history of a particular movie studio. (XIV 900)

Randy consistently minimized his mental health problems. (XIII 735-36) In discussing the criminal episode, Randy was forthright in acknowledging the fact that he stabbed all three of the victims. However, Randy never provided the doctor with a credible motive. (XIII 736-37)

Dr. Riebsame concluded that, given Randy's abnormal brain pathology, his history of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and his Asperger disorder, Randy was suffering from an extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the offenses. (XIII 751, 761) Although Randy recognized that his behavior was wrong, his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired as a result of his preoccupation with satanic and sexual matters. (XIII 761)

Individuals with Randy's type of neurological difficulty typically fail to ever reach emotion maturity. Dr. Riebsame estimated that, at the time of the offenses, Randy's maturity was equivalent to a pre-pubescent individual approximately eleven or twelve years old. (XIII 761-62) Three years later, at the time of his trial, Randy's emotional development was still stunted by the Asperger disorder. Dr. Riebsame estimated that, at the time of trial, Randy was coping at the maturity level of someone in their early teens. (XIII 762) As a result of his extreme immaturity at the time of the crime, Randy was unable to consider how his behavior might affect

other people. (XIII 762)]

Dr. Wu reviewed appellant's medical records and acquired appellant's PET scan on November 16, 2001. (XIV 896-97) The PET scan revealed that appellant's frontal lobe area, especially the orbital frontal and the limbic frontal areas within the temporal cortex, were clearly abnormal. (XIV 897-98) Dr. Wu concluded, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that appellant's PET scan pattern is consistent with a diagnosis of Asperger's Syndrome. (XIV 899)

Asperger's is an inherited, life long condition. Randy was showing symptoms of the disorder in early childhood. Dr. Wu testified that Randy certainly would have been suffering from the disorder at the time of the murders. (XIV 905-6)

Dr. Wu explained that Asperger's Syndrome can be treated with both therapy and medication. The earlier that the syndrome is diagnosed, the more successful the treatment. (XIV 942-43) Asperger's Syndrome can cause a chemical imbalance in the brain. Correcting the serotonin imbalance help the sufferer regulate some of the behavioral problems associated with Asperger's Syndrome. (XIV 943) Dr. Wu explained that it is very hard for someone with a genetic, chemical imbalance in their brain to be able to voluntarily control the symptoms associated with those illnesses without proper medication or therapy.

(XIV 943-45)

Randy's Childhood

During her pregnancy with Randy, his mother Debra Roberts, was physically abused and was without adequate nutrition during much of the pregnancy. (XIV 843) She had little prenatal care. She and Reese Ingram, Randy's biological father, lived in a trailer with no electricity. Ms. Roberts was reduced to eating bologna and peanut butter and jelly sandwiches. (XV 1056-60) Roberts gained very little weight during her pregnancy. (XV 1058) Additionally, Roberts became very ill during the pregnancy. (XV 1058-59)

Mr. Ingram often yelled at Roberts, he also pushed and choked her.

(XV1057) At the end of her first trimester, Mr. Ingram picked up his wife and slammed her down into the chair where she was sitting. This was done with such force that the chair broke. He then picked up his pregnant wife and threw her across the room. When she ran outside in an attempt to get away, he picked her up and slammed her down on the ground. A neighbor called the police and paramedics treated Ms. Roberts. (XV 1058)

During the final trimester, Mr. Ingram disappeared for several days as he was

¹⁴ Dr. Prichard theorized that these factors could have contributed to Randy's disorder. (XIV 843-44)

want to do. With no money or food, Ms. Roberts left the trailer to find her husband. She located him in a nearby bar that featured strippers. (XV 1059) When confronted, Mr. Ingram shoved Ms. Roberts with such force, that she fell backwards onto the floor. Although her baby had been very active throughout the pregnancy, after the shoving incident, the fetus stopped moving for several hours.

Ms. Roberts became concerned enough to seek medical attention. (XV 1059-60)

Ms. Roberts divorced Randy's biological father when Randy was approximately one year old. She tried to make it on her own with the help of welfare. (XV 1061) This course proved to be too difficult and Randy and his mother moved in with Ms. Roberts' parents several months later. (XV 1561)

As a child, Randy was awkward and did not excel in most sports and games. Asperger children typically have much difficulty in sports involving balls. As a result, they sometimes gravitate towards swimming or martial arts. (XIV 842) In addition to being awkward, he wore glasses and had poorly developed social skills. (XIV 842) He was a loner who had few friends. (XIV 986-87) "I wouldn't call him normal, ... [a] loner, a peculiar type child." (XIV 988)

Shortly after beginning his formal education, Randy came home and went

¹⁵ Randy began karate lessons at age six. This met with mixed results. Randy could not follow instructions and was always disruptive in class. (XIV 979-83)

directly to his room. His mother found him sitting on his bed crying. Randy explained that nobody liked him and no one wanted to play with him. (XV 1062) His mother hugged him and told him that he would find friends, but as she admitted, "[I]t seemed like he never did." (XV 1062) Other children picked on Randy unmercifully. They wrecked his bicycle, threw rocks at him, and poked him with sticks. (XV 1062-63) His mother attempted to get the school to intervene, but met with no success. (XV 1063)

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