IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-53

RANDY SCHOENWETTER

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

D.Whether subsequent Miranda warnings cured Miranda

violation. Appellant claims the second confession was tainted by the first confession, citing *Missouri v. Seibert*, 124 S.Ct. 2601 (2004). In *Seibert*, the defendant was arrested and taken to the station for questioning. She was clearly "in custody" because she was under arrest. To the contrary, in this case, Appellant was not a suspect at the time he agreed to go to the station. He only rode with the officers because he did not have

transportation. He asked them to bring him back by 4:00 p.m. so he could go to work. And he was free to walk about the car when the officers went to get snacks. In *Seibert*, the interviewing officer made a conscious decision not to give *Miranda* warnings even though the suspect was clearly in custody. *Seibert*, 124 S.Ct. at 2606. There was a department policy, espoused by police training agencies, to question first and warn the suspect later. The strategy was designed to undermine *Miranda* safeguards. *Seibert*, 124 S.Ct. at 2612.

First, the State does not agree that the first section of the confession was illegal. Second, even if this Court found that Appellant was in custody, the subsequent Miranda warnings "cured" any violation. The present case is strikingly similar to Davis v. State, 859 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 2003), in which the defendant argued the same issues presented by Appellant. The difference was that Davis was under arrest at the time the officers questioned him. Approximately ten minutes into the interview, Davis made inculpatory statements, was read Miranda rights, signed a written waiver, and repeated his confession then drew a map where he left the body. This Court held that, pursuant to Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 310-11 (1985), the statement was voluntary. This Court noted that it has

previously followed Elstad in finding secondary confessions voluntary. Davis, 859 So. 2d at 471, citing to Davis v. State, 698 So.2d 1182, 1187-89 (Fla. 1997). This Court distinguished Ramirez because Ramirez was "not given a careful and thorough administration of his Miranda warnings." Id. at 471. Further, the officers in Ramirez "employed a concerted effort to downplay and minimize the significance of the Miranda rights, thus exploiting the statements previously made to the officers and tricking Ramirez into not exercising his rights." Id. at 471-72, Citing Ramirez, 739 So. 2d at 576. In the present case, the officers were not engaging in deliberative deception, explained the Miranda warnings even though Appellant recited them to the detectives when asked whether he knew about such rights, obtained a written waiver, and engaged in none of the behavior condemned in Ramirez. This Court held that the Miranda warnings "cured" the condition that rendered the unwarned statement inadmissible. Davis, 859 So. 2d at 472.

Last, even if the trial court erred in concluding Appellant was not in custody when he left with the police to go to the station, the error is harmless. *See State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The officers followed a blood trail from the house to Appellant's apartment complex. Even if the

confession were suppressed, it was only a matter of time before the detectives searched the apartment dumpster and found the bloody clothes with the victims' DNA. Under the doctrine of inevitable discovery, all evidence would have been in the State's possession even without Appellant's confession. Haesun Friskey was able to identify Appellant, and the blood trial showed Appellant's DNA.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW AFTER APPELLANT DISAGREED WITH THE ATTORNEY'S ABOUT VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE

It is not clear whether Appellant's real argument is that the trial judge erred in allowing victim impact evidence or whether the trial judge erred in denying counsels' motion to withdraw. Defense counsel moved to withdraw because he believed Appellant was interfering with their representation.

Defense counsel objected to victim impact testimony (PP273). The testimony of Janice Keith, Kenneth Lathrop, and Terry Blythe was proffered (PP277-290, 290-304, 304-307). During the proffers, Appellant stated he did not want the attorneys to object to the victim impact testimony (PP286, 288) The attorneys argued that whether to make objections was not Appellants'

choice, and the court should not consider his comments (PP289). The trial judge stated that:

Your objection, that's why I let it go on the record, but notwithstanding that, I believe the testimony does conform to the statute.

I have to disagree with you, Mr. McCarthy. I believe it does conform with the statute. I don't believe there's anything inherent here which goes beyond the statute.

(PP289-290).

The State proffered the next witness, defense counsel again objected and Appellant asked him to stop (PP299). In the meantime, the trial court excluded some of the objected-to testimony (PP 301). Appellant objected to the exclusion; however, the trial judge limited the testimony of both Lathrop and Blythe (PP 303, 312). After testimony from victim impact witnesses was proffered, Appellant asked to address the trial judge and was recognized (PP308, 309). He stated he did not see anything wrong with the testimony and he wanted it to be admitted (PP310). The trial judge ruled the victim impact evidence admissible. Defense counsel moved to withdraw due to a conflict with Appellant (PP312). The motion was denied (PP314). The judge's ruling was based on case law and statutes (PP290, 303, 312). When defense counsel asked the judge whether "any of your rulings on these three individuals were based in

any way on Mr. Schoenwetter's statements" the judge said "yes, it's all part and parcel." (PP 312). The judge clarified that the basis of his ruling on victim impact was based on the fact the evidence fell within the victim impact statute (PP319). Although the judge did not ignore what Appellant said, the basis for the ruling was because it "fell within the gamut of the statute." (PP320). The Public Defender moved to withdraw due to conflict with Appellant (PP312-313). Defense counsel stated that he wanted to withdraw because "we will not have the defense controlled by Mr. Schoenwetter." (PP314).

Defense counsel moved for a competency evaluation on Appellant (PP319). The trial judge noted that Appellant had been evaluated by Dr. Riebsame when Appellant wanted to plea (PP320). The judge had observed no behavior that would lead him to believe Appellant had become incompetent (PP320-321). Defense believed counsel Appellant showed siqns of "decompensation" (PP322). Dr. Riebsame evaluated Appellant as a defense confidential expert (PP343-344). After Appellant spoke with Dr. Riebsame and the latter with defense counsel, the motion for competency evaluation was renewed (PP344). The trial judge appointed Dr. Podnos and Dr. Greenblum to examine Appellant (PP344-345). Appellant told the judge Dr. Riebsame

said he was competent, and he did not know why the attorneys insisted on testing him (PP345).

After a weekend recess, the court held a competency hearing. In Dr. Greenblum's opinion, Appellant was competent (PP361). In fact, he was extremely competent (PP362). Dr. Podnos also believed Appellant was competent to proceed (PP386). The trial judge held Appellant was competent and made findings of fact (PP413-414).

The trial judge also addressed Appellant's desire not to present mitigation (PP415). Appellant said his difficulty with defense counsel was that they wanted to say he "was not acting under my own free will, which, like I said, was untrue." (PP417). Defense counsel summarized the mitigation evidence he intended to present (PP420-423). At that point, Appellant was "keeping an open mind" about whether the evidence should be presented (PP423). Appellant did not want the evidence presented as an excuse (PP423).

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in allowing victim impact evidence and in considering Appellant's position as to that evidence. Appellant seems to argue that the trial judge allowed the victim impact evidence over objection simply because Appellant asked him to (Initial Brief at 44).

This Court has previously approved the use of victim-impact evidence in penalty-phase proceedings. *Windom v. State*, 656 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1995). The record in this case reveals that the evidence introduced by the State fell within the purpose of section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes (2002), which allows the jury to consider "the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death."

Huggins v. State, 889 So. 2d 743, 765 (Fla. 2004).

Both the case law from this Court and section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes (2000), allow for the introduction of victim impact evidence. Section 921.141(7) provides:

Once the prosecution has provided evidence of the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances as described in subsection (5), the prosecution may introduce, and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence. Such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not be permitted as a part of victim impact evidence.

In Burns v. State, 699 So. 2d 646, 653 (Fla. 1997), this Court rejected the argument that victim impact evidence is irrelevant under Florida's sentencing statute because it does not go to any aggravator or to rebut any mitigator. See also Bonifay v. State, 680 So. 2d 413, 419 (Fla. 1996); Windom v. State, 656 So. 2d 432, 439 (Fla. 1995). In Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 823, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991), the United States Supreme Court expressly rejected the argument that admitting such evidence violates equal protection, finding that victim impact evidence is not offered to encourage a comparison of victims but to "show instead each victim's 'uniqueness as an individual human being,' whatever the jury might think the loss to the community resulting from his death might be." Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 53 (Fla. 2003).

The trial judge clearly stated he did not simply base his decision on Appellant's request but, on the statute and case law. Victim impact evidence is clearly admissible and any consideration the judge gave to Appellant's requests or opinions was out of respect for the defendant. The trial judge did not cast defense counsel aside and allow Appellant to have free reign with his defense. To the contrary, the trial judge carefully listened and considered the situation and ordered a competency evaluation.

Despite the rift between Appellant's moral convictions and those of defense counsel, all the mitigation regarding Asperger's Syndrome and Appellant's life was presented in

detail. Error, if any, was harmless. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Appellant accepted the representation of defense counsel who conducted a full mitigation presentation. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defense counsel's motion to withdraw. See Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 -1054 (Fla. 2000); Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863, 868 (Fla.1986)("General loss of confidence or trust standing alone will not support withdrawal of counsel").

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING DR. QAISER TO TESTIFY REGARDING THE AUTOPSY CONDUCTED BY DR. VASALLO

Dr. Sajid Qaiser, Medical Examiner⁶ for Brevard County, reviewed the charts of the autopsies on Ronald and Virginia Friskey and discussed the case with the medical examiner who conducted the autopsies (PP241).

Dr. Qaiser, had been with the medical examiner's office for three years. He was an M.D. licensed to practice in Florida and Pennsylvania. Defense counsel objected to Dr. Qaiser giving an opinion because he did not conduct the autopsy; however, there was no objection to his qualifications. (PP212). The trial judge also noted the autopsy photos were already in evidence (PP212). Defense counsel had no objection to the photos (PP218). Dr. Qaiser reviewed the medical files in this case, the autopsy reports, the whole chart, and discussed the case with the medical examiner who conducted the autopsy (PP212, 241). Dr. Qaiser had gone through the pictures and every detail (PP241).

Dr. Vasallo performed the autopsies but was unavailable (PP213).

Appellant relies on Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 100 (Fla. 1996); however, his reliance is misplaced. Appellant cites the portion of Geralds regarding a defense continuance and ignores the fact that this Court held that the trial judge did not err in permitting a medical expert to testify as to the victim's cause of death, despite the fact that the expert did not perform the autopsy. Dr. Qaiser testified that in reaching his conclusions he reviewed, among other things, the case file, chart, medical records the autopsy reports, photographs, and discussed the case with Dr. Vasallo. Therefore, because Dr. Qauser made independent conclusions using objective evidence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting him to testify. See also Brennan v. State, 754 So. 2d 1, 4-5 (Fla. 1999)(sentence reversed on other grounds); Capehart v. State, 583 So. 2d 1009, 1012 -1013 (Fla. 1991); Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d 954, 960-961 (Fla. 1996).

Section 90.704, Florida Statutes (1987), provides that an expert may rely on facts or data not in evidence in forming an opinion if those facts are of "a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the subject to support the opinion expressed." The record reveals that the State properly qualified Dr. Qaiser as an expert without objection, and that he formed his opinion based upon the autopsy reports, medical records, photographs,

and all other paperwork filed in the case. A proper predicate for his testimony was established and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the defense objection. *Capehart, supra*.

This case is similar to *Capehart* in that the autopsy report was not admitted into evidence. The defendant objected to another medical examiner testifying at trial "regarding the cause of death and the condition of the victim's body." *Id.* at 1012. Although there was no objection to the new medical examiner's qualifications as an expert, the defendant argued that there was not a "proper foundation" for her testimony. *Id.*

This Court held that under section 90.704, there was a proper predicate for the medical examiner's testimony, even though she relied on facts or data not in evidence, because such information was of "a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the subject to support the opinion expressed." *Id.* (quoting § 90.704, Fla. Stat. (1987)). This Court observed that the expert "formed her opinion based upon the autopsy report, the toxicology report, the evidence receipts, the photographs of the body, and all other paperwork filed in the case." *Id.* at 1013. *See also Carratelli v. State*, 832 So. 2d 850, 862-863 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

The determination of a witness's qualifications to express an expert opinion is peculiarly within the discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed absent a clear showing of error. *Ramirez v. State*, 542 So. 2d 352, 355 (Fla. 1989). An expert is permitted to express an opinion on matters in which the witness has expertise when the opinion is in response to facts disclosed to the expert at or before the trial. § 90.704, Fla.Stat. (1993); *Capehart, supra*.

Last, Appellant tries to fit this square peg into the round hole of *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), by arguing the medical examiner's reports were testimonial hearsay and he did not have an opportunity to confront Dr. Vasallo. There was no objection on this basis, and this issue is waived. In any case, *Crawford* is not implicated in this case because medical records and autopsy reports are not "testimonial" and are within the business records exception to the hearsay rule. Error, if any, was harmless. *See State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AND GIVING A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION AFTER THE PROSECUTOR ADMITTEDLY MISSTATED THE LAW REGARDING "NO PRIOR CRIMINAL HISTORY"

During closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

Randy Lamar Schoenwetter has no significant history of prior criminal act. Well, if you believe Dr. Riebsame about the child pornography, he said that's significant. It may be or it may not be. If you believe Dr. Riebsame about the retail theft, I don't know that it matters that much in weight, but you also need to take into consideration that he's been previously convicted or contemporaneously convicted for all these crimes that are going on in this case when you're weighing that.

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